CV

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85, 857

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CLYDE JEFFERSON,

Respondent.

FILE
SID J. WHITE
AUG 18 1995

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANNE CARRION

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 948659 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the Defendant and Petitioner was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida. Respondent was the Appellant and Petitioner was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State.

In this brief, the symbol "A" will be used to denote the appendix attached hereto, the decision hereunder review reported as Jefferson v. State, Case No. 94-1591 (Fla. 4th DCA May 24, 1995).

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Petitioner unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 19, 1994, Respondent was sentenced to a total sum of forty-five years, as a habitual offender, in three separate cases (R 82-102, 32-37). The record is undisputed that Respondent was on notice of the State's intent to seek habitual offender treatment prior to acceptance of the plea; the only dispute below was where Respondent fell in the guidelines (T 4-5). The plea agreement form indicates that Respondent was informed of the maximum habitual offender penalties applicable to each new offense in case number 93-2914 (thirty years and ten years, respectively), prior to the acceptance of the plea (R 50). Respondent in fact conceded below that Respondent was fully aware that his plea agreement encompassed sentencing him as a habitual offender, although the sentence he hoped for was a guidelines sentence, numerically speaking (Initial Brief at 3).

The Sentencing Guidelines Scoresheet shows a recommended sentence range of 12 to 17 years, and a permitted sentence range of 9 to 22 years (SR 4). The trial court declared Respondent an habitual offender and sentenced him to concurrently to 15 years and 10 years, on counts one and two respectively, in case number 93-2914; to 15 consecutive years as an habitual offender in case number 89-2582; and to an additional 15 consecutive years as an habitual offender in case number 88-2492 (R 82-90, SR 36).

Respondent did not object to the sentence imposed, nor did he ever move to withdraw his plea before the trial court.

On appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District,

Respondent challenged the habitual offender sentences imposed alleging that the trial court violated the requirements set out by this Court in Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), when the court failed to inform him, inter alia, that if sentenced as an habitual felony offender, he could be sentenced to forty-five years, total on the three cases. Respondent asked the District Court to remand with directions that the habitual offender classification and sentence be vacated and a guideline sentence be imposed.

The State responded that because Respondent was aware that the State was seeking habitual felony offender treatment in case number 93-2914-CF, leaving the decision as to the extent of the sentence to the discretion of the trial court, the question was one of knowingly, freely and voluntarily entering the plea, when Respondent knew the State was seeking an habitual offender sentence. Therefore, the State asserted the sentence in that case was legal and should be affirmed. Once the sentence was found to be legal and affirmed on appeal, if Respondent wanted to further challenge the sentence on the basis now contended, he must begin by filing a motion to withdraw plea with the trial court alleging he had entered his plea involuntarily, not knowing what the maximum sentence under the habitual felony offender statute was to be.

As to case number 88-2492-CF, the State conceded that the habitual offender sentence in that case was infirm as no notice of intent to habitualize had been filed in that case. Similarly, the State conceded that the habitual offender sentence imposed in count

two of case number 93-2914-CF was erroneous.

In its opinion filed May 24, 1995, the Fourth District Court of Appeal confirmed its view that an Ashley violation creates an "illegal sentence", and does not involve an involuntary plea issue, again certifying conflict with the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in Bell v. State, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), rev. denied, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994). Accordingly, it remanded the case for resentencing within the guidelines, in accordance with its prior opinion in Wilson v. State, 645 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (Wilson I), guashed, State v. Wilson, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S313 (Fla. July 6, 1995) (Wilson II).

Based on the certified conflict, the State invoked the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court, and by order issued Friday, July 21, 1995, this Court postponed decision on jurisdiction, but set a briefing schedule.

Petitioner's Brief on the Merits follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN ASHLEY VIOLATION REQUIRES REMAND TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR RESENTENCING WITHIN THE GUIDELINES.

The problem below arose because the trial court failed to confirm from Respondent that he was aware of the maximum sentence he could receive, for all three cases together, and of other consequences of habitual offender sentencing.

The District Court below, certifying conflict with <u>Bell</u>, held that because this amounted to an <u>Ashley</u> violation, the sentence must be reversed and remanded to the trial court for resentencing under the guidelines recommended range, without giving the trial court the opportunity to allow Respondent to withdraw his plea, following their decision in <u>Wilson I</u>.

The State submits that since Respondent did not move to withdraw the plea with the trial court, the issue is one that can only be decided after a hearing where the Respondent and his counsel can assert whether Respondent did or did not have actual knowledge of the maximum total penalty under the habitual felony offender statute. Thus, the decision rendered below should be quashed, and remanded to the trial court to give Respondent an opportunity to withdraw the plea, and thereafter to enter a new plea to the charges or proceed to trial.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AN ASHLEY VIOLATION REQUIRES REMAND TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR RESENTENCING WITHIN THE GUIDELINES.

Petitioner, the State of Florida, submits that the Fourth District Court of Appeal was incorrect when it held below that an Ashley¹ violation automatically created an illegal sentence, and did not involve a question of voluntariness of the plea, in reliance upon its prior decision in Wilson I.

In <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), this Court held:

[I]n order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization. (footnote 8 omitted)

Id. at 490.

In <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly (Fla. July 6, 1995), this court quashed <u>Wilson I</u>, holding that it would be unfair to the State to remand for resentencing within the guidelines, after an <u>Ashley</u> violation, where the State had <u>not</u> affirmatively misled the defendant as to the maximum habitual offender sentence possible.

In the instant case, Respondent was **fully informed** in the plea agreement what the maximum possible habitual offender sentence was as to the new offenses in case number 93-2914, thirty years and ten

¹Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993).

years, on counts one and two respectively. In actuality, the sentence Respondent received in that case was <u>less</u> than the maximum, or fifteen years on count one, and ten years on count two.

Respondent asserts, however, that he was never advised about the total maximum sentence he could receive, in the three cases. The State, unfortunately, cannot refute that assertion. However, in the unusual circumstances of this cases, where this oversight occurred through no misrepresentation by the State, it is appropriate to return all parties to square one as this court did in <u>Wilson</u>, as no one will be prejudiced thereby.

In the case at bar, it is uncontroverted that Respondent never moved to withdraw his plea in the trial court. As shown above, however, Respondent is now challenging the voluntary or intelligent character of his plea without having presented this issue to the trial court. In Robinson v. State, 373 So. 2d 898, 902 (Fla. 1979), this Court specifically held:

The appellant contends that he has a right to a general review of the plea by an appellate court to be certain that he was made aware of all the consequences of his plea and apprised of all the attendant constitutional rights waived. In effect, he is asserting a right or review without a specific assertion of wrongdoing. We reject this theory of an automatic review from a quilty plea. The only type of appeal that requires this type of review is a death penalty case. See Sec. 921.141(4), Fla. Stat. (1977). Furthermore, we find that an appeal from a guilty plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea. If the record raises issues concerning the voluntary or intelligent character of the plea, that issue should first be presented to the trial court in accordance with the law and standards pertaining to a motion to withdraw a plea. If the action of

the trial court on such motion were adverse to the defendant, it would be subject to review on direct appeal.

The State maintains that the record in the case at bar does not raise any issue concerning the voluntary or intelligent nature of the plea. Thus in the action before the Fourth District Court below, Respondent was "asserting a right of review without a specific assertion of wrongdoing" which he did not have. Respondent not having filed a motion to withdraw the plea with the trial court, the District Court below should have affirmed the sentence. See Simmons v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2407 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 14, 1994); Heatley v. S. 636 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Brown v. State, 616 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Thus, on this bases as well, the District Court's opinion here under review should be quashed.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the above and foregoing arguments and authorities cited therein, the State of Florida respectfully submits that the decision of the district court should be QUASHED.