IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F	The same	L	Del E	5
	SID			
/	SEP	7	1995	

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CLYDE JEFFERSON,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 85,857

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

DAVID MCPHERRIN Assistant Public Defender

Attorney for Clyde Jefferson

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. Petitioner was the appellee and the prosecution below. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal, which includes the relevant documents filed in the trial court.

The symbol "T" will denote the Transcript of the plea conference.

The symbol "ST" will denote the Transcript of the sentencing hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's statement of the case and facts subject to the following additions. Petitioner did not file a separate notice of intent to seek imposition of a habitual offender sentence in the instant cases. However, the written plea petition (R 48-54) and the oral colloquies conducted, both at the time respondent initially entered his pleas (T 4-5) and later when they were maintained by him (ST 18), raised the possibility that a habitual offender sentence would be imposed. The trial court failed to advise respondent of the reasonable consequences of habitualization, including the total sentence that could be imposed on all charges and his ineligibility for certain forms of early release.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

The district court wrongfully concluded that its opinion in the case at bar was in direct conflict with that of another district court of appeal. Therefore, despite the district court's certification of conflict this Court should exercise its discretion and dismiss this appeal. On its merits the outcome of this case is controlled by the previous decisions of this Court in State v. Wilson, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S313 (Fla. July 6, 1995) and State v. Blackwell, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S354 (Fla. July 20, 1995). In the case at bar respondent, through the written plea petition and the oral colloquies with the trial court, was made aware of the possibility of being sentenced as a habitual felony offender. However, the trial court failed to personally confirm that respondent understood the consequences of being sentenced as a habitual offender. Accordingly, remand is necessary to afford respondent an opportunity to withdraw his pleas.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THIS COURT IS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BECAUSE IT DOES NOT CREATE CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL. ON THE MERITS, REMAND TO ALLOW RESPONDENT AN OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEAS IS REQUIRED.

As a threshold matter, respondent questions whether this Court has jurisdiction to review the decision rendered by the district court. In <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated:

we hold that in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization.

Id. at 490.

The district court concluded that the trial court failed to fully comply with either of the aforementioned requirements. <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1242 (Fla. 4th DCA May 24, 1995). As a result of the trial court's failure, the district court determined that habitualization was not an available sentencing option and remanded for imposition of a guideline sentence. Pursuant to Article V, Section (3)(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, the district court certified conflict with <u>Bell v. State</u>, 624 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) <u>rev. denied</u>, 634 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1994).

In <u>Bell</u> the Second District Court of Appeal determined that the appropriate remedy when faced with <u>Ashley</u> error was not imposition of a guideline sentence, but was instead to provide the defendant an

opportunity to withdraw his plea and either plead anew or proceed to trial. <u>Bell</u>, 624 So. 2d at 821-822. The facts of <u>Bell</u> establish that written notice of intent to habitualize was filed prior to the defendant entering his plea, but that the trial court failed to personally confirm that he was aware of the ramifications of habitualization. The remedy afforded the defendant in <u>Bell</u>, which was subsequently approved in <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S313 (Fla. July 6, 1995) and <u>State v. Washington</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S341 (Fla. July 13, 1995), was deemed appropriate for use when the trial court fails to comply with the second <u>Ashley</u> requirement - confirmation by the court that the defendant understands the consequences of being sentenced as a habitual offender.

The remedy found appropriate in the case at bar was not applied to the mere failure to comply with prong two of <u>Ashley</u>. Faced with the failure to comply with both requirements of <u>Ashley</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal determined that the appropriate remedy was to remand for imposition of a guideline sentence.

The test for determining whether conflict exists is whether the later decision collides with the prior "on the same point of law so as to create an inconsistency or conflict among precedents." Kincaid v. World Insurance Co., 157 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 1963). "If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling factual elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, than no conflict can arise." Kyle v. Kyle, 139 So. 2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962). Jefferson involved a failure to comply with both Ashley requirements, while Bell concerned the failure to comply with prong two only. The controlling factual elements in Bell and Jefferson, that gave rise to

the different remedies, are distinguishable. As a result, no conflict between the two cases can exist. Although the district court's certification provides a jurisdictional basis to review the instant case, see Taggart Corporation v. Benzing, 434 So. 2d 964, 966 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), this Court should recognize the lack of conflict and exercise its discretion to dismiss this appeal, see A.B.G. v. State, 605 So. 2d 1261 (Fla. 1992).

On its merits the outcome of the instant appeal is controlled by this Court's previous decisions in State v. Wilson, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S313 (Fla. July 6, 1995) and State v. Blackwell, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S354 (Fla. July 20, 1995). The written plea petition signed by respondent and the oral colloquies conducted by the court, both before respondent entered his pleas and later when he maintained them, raised the possibility that a habitual offender sentence would be imposed. See Blackwell, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S355. However, the trial court failed to discuss the consequences of habitualization with respondent, including the maximum sentence that could be imposed on all charges and his ineligibility for certain forms of early release. See Wilson, Contrary to petitioner's assertion, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at S314. respondent's failure to previously file a motion to withdraw his pleas in the trial court does not preclude relief. Mr. Wilson was granted relief despite his failure to previously seek withdraw of his plea in the trial court. As was the case in Wilson, respondent was informed neither of the maximum habitual offender term to which he was subject

¹ Certification of conflict by a district court applies only to conflicts between decisions of the district courts; it does not extend to conflicts between decisions of this Court and the district courts. P. Padovano, <u>Florida Appellate Procedure</u> § 2.11.

nor that he might be ineligible for certain programs affecting early release. Therefore, the remedy afforded Mr. Wilson, remand for resentencing and an opportunity to withdraw his plea, should be afforded respondent.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, respondent respectfully requests this Court dismiss the instant appeal or, if it is determined that reaching the merits of this case is appropriate, remand this cause to afford respondent an opportunity to withdraw his pleas.